#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

**ROY BUTLER (D-94869),** 

On Habeas Corpus.

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 17 2017

Case No. S237014

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. Al'39411 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. 91694B The Honorable Larry J. Goodman, Judge

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Hearings

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Must the Board continue to calculate "base terms" for certain inmates under a 2013 settlement agreement, despite statutory changes eliminating the Board's authority and the base term's previous function, under the rationale that base terms might indicate the point at which a sentence becomes constitutionally disproportionate to an inmate's underlying crime?

#### INTRODUCTION

Before 2016, governing statutes assigned the Board of Parole Hearings two tasks with respect to violent offenders sentenced to indeterminate life terms: (i) determining when the individual offender was suitable for parole and (ii) setting a "release date" (or "base term") that was based on characteristics of the commitment offense and functioned in effect as a minimum sentence. In 2005, this Court upheld the Board's practice of not setting base terms until it had already determined that an inmate was otherwise suitable for parole. In 2013, the Board settled a habeas claim brought by Roy Butler by agreeing that it would instead, as a matter of policy, set base terms first, and would promulgate new regulations to that effect. The Court of Appeal embodied that settlement in an injunctive order.

In 2016, the Legislature revised the whole parole system, entirely eliminating the Board's term-setting function. Under current law, minimum terms for indeterminate-life inmates are fixed by statute, not by the Board. In light of that systemic change, the Board moved to modify the Court of Appeal's order to relieve the Board from any ongoing obligation to set base terms or promulgate associated regulations, since those actions would lack any statutory basis or point under current law. The Court of

Appeal declined to modify its order, reasoning in part that base terms had continuing significance under the Constitution.

That decision should be reversed. The authority to modify injunctive orders in light of intervening changes in law or facts exists for just this sort of situation. The 2016 statutory revisions to the State's parole system eliminated the Board's term-setting function and emptied base terms of any meaning or function. And contrary to the Court of Appeal's conclusion, under current law base terms have no constitutional significance.

Requiring the Board to continue to set them is a waste of public resources, which the injunctive order should be modified to avoid.

#### **BACKGROUND**

The ultimate conclusion in this case should be straightforward: The Legislature has fundamentally changed California's parole system, and the Board should not be required to expend public resources on actions that have no continuing significance under current law. We begin, however, with a relatively detailed treatment of the statutory and procedural history, to provide a full explanation of why the Court of Appeal's order declining to modify the stipulated order rests on fundamental errors and must be reversed.

I. BEFORE 2016, THE BOARD WAS REQUIRED TO SET MINIMUM PAROLE RELEASE DATES FOR LIFE-TERM INMATES AND DETERMINE WHETHER THEY WERE SUITABLE FOR RELEASE INTO THE COMMUNITY.

Before 1977, the State's Indeterminate Sentencing Law provided that nearly all convicted felons were sentenced to indeterminate terms. (See generally *In re Dannenberg* (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1061, 1077.) Under the ISL, trial courts imposed all sentences as a range, often with a short minimum and a life maximum, and the parole authority determined the length of time

within that broad range that any prisoner would remain in custody. (*Id.* at p. 1088; see also former Pen. Code, §§ 3020, 3023.)

In 1976, California adopted the Determinate Sentencing Law, under which most criminal defendants are sentenced to a definite term of years. (E.g., Pen. Code, § 1170; *Dannenberg*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1078.) The DSL, however, provided for a form of indeterminate sentencing for a small class of offenders who commit serious, violent crimes, such as first- and second-degree murder, attempted premeditated murder, and kidnapping for robbery, ransom, or sexual assault. (*Dannenberg*, *supra*, at pp. 1078 & 1097, fn. 17.) These offenders may serve up to life in prison, but are eligible for parole consideration after a minimum period of incarceration. (*Id.* at p. 1078.)

For these life-term inmates, before 2016, the Legislature directed the Board to perform two tasks. First, former Penal Code section 3041, subdivision (a) required the Board to set a "parole release date" for each indeterminately sentenced inmate based on uniform criteria. (Former Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a).) This release date was required to "be set in a manner that will provide uniform terms for offenses of similar gravity and magnitude with respect to their threat to the public, and that will comply with the sentencing rules that the Judicial Council may issue and any sentencing information relevant to the setting of parole release dates." (*Ibid.*) The statute also provided that the Board shall "establish criteria for the setting of parole release dates and in doing so shall consider the number of victims of the crime for which the inmate was sentenced and other factors in mitigation or aggravation of the crime." (*Ibid.*) This provision was designed to promote term uniformity—other things being equal, inmates who committed similar crimes should serve similar sentences.

Second, the Legislature directed the Board to determine whether a life inmate was safe for release into the community. Former section 3041,

subdivision (b) provided that the Board "shall set a release date unless it determines that the gravity of the current convicted offense or offenses, or the timing and gravity of current or past convicted offense or offenses, is such that consideration of the public safety requires a more lengthy period of incarceration for this individual, and that a parole date, therefore, cannot be fixed ...." (Former Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (b).) This provision promoted the Legislature's goal of protecting public safety. (See, e.g., *Dannenberg*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th at pp. 1082-1083.)

To implement these two legislative directives, the Board promulgated a series of regulations governing the setting of release dates and the consideration of inmates' suitability for parole. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2280-2292, 2400-2411, 2420-2429.1, 2430-2439.1; *In re Stanworth* (1982) 33 Cal.3d 176, 182.)<sup>1</sup> Under these regulations, the Board first determined whether an inmate was suitable for release on parole—that is, whether the inmate would "pose an unreasonable risk of danger to society if released from prison." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2402, subd. (a).) In making this determination, the Board considered "[a]ll relevant, reliable information available," including, among other things, the inmate's social history, mental state, criminal history, the circumstances of his offense, his conduct while incarcerated, and conditions of his release.

The Board's regulations prescribing parole procedures are set forth in distinct articles by category of offense. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2280-2292 [murders committed before November 8, 1978 and aggravated kidnapping], 2400-2411 [murders on or after November 8, 1978], 2420-2429.1 [certain habitual offenders], 2430-2439.1 [certain sex offenders]; see generally *In re Vicks* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 274, 294, fns. 12 & 14.) The substantive provisions of these articles relating to release-date setting and suitability determinations are substantially similar. (See *Vicks*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 294, fn. 12; but see Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2433 [no regulatory matrix used for calculating base terms for sex offenders].)

(*Id.*, § 2402, subd. (b); see also *id.*, § 2402, subds. (c), (d) [enumerating circumstances tending to show unsuitability and suitability].)

Once an inmate was found suitable for parole, the regulations directed the Board to set an inmate's release date starting with the calculation of a "base term." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2401, 2403, subd. (a); Dannenberg, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1079.) To compute an inmate's base term, the Board looked to a biaxial matrix for the inmate's crime of conviction. (E.g., Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2403, subds. (b)-(f).) Each matrix identified a range of possible release dates that varied according to specified offense characteristics, such as the victim's cause of death or the extent of his or her injuries (represented on the horizontal axis) and the relationship between the inmate and the victim (represented on the vertical axis). (E.g., *ibid*.) Each matrix category included three terms: a lower, middle, and upper base term. (Id., § 2403, subds. (a)-(f).) In determining the appropriate base term, the Board selected the matrix category that "most closely related to the circumstances" of the inmate's crime and imposed the middle term unless it found aggravating or mitigating circumstances. (Id., § 2403, subd. (a) [also permitting other term to be selected in certain circumstances].) If aggravating circumstances were present, the Board could select the upper term in the matrix category. (Id., § 2404, subd. (a).) If there were mitigating circumstances, the Board chose the lower term in the matrix category. (Id., §§ 2403, subd. (a), 2405, subd. (a).) This term whether upper, middle, or lower—was the inmate's "base term."

Under the regulations, the Board could then choose whether to add enhancements to the base term based on prescribed criteria, such as if the inmate used a gun or other weapon, caused great loss, served prior prison terms, or committed multiple offenses. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2406-2409.) This final term was what is commonly referred to as the inmate's "adjusted base term."

Once calculated, the base or adjusted base term operated as the inmate's minimum term of confinement. An inmate found suitable for release was required to remain in prison until he had served his base term, reduced for any credits earned while incarcerated. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2289, 2411; see also *Vicks*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 313; *In re Bush* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 133, 142.) If an inmate had already served his base term at the time he was found suitable, he was entitled to release once the Board's decision became effective following prescribed review periods. (See *Bush*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at p. 142; see also Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (b)(2) [Board decision final within 120 days of parole hearing]; *id.*, §§ 3041.1, 3041.2 [Governor's review of parole decisions]; Cal. Const. art. V, § 8, subd. (b) [Governor's review of parole decisions for those convicted of murder].)

In *Dannenberg*, *supra*, 34 Cal.4th 1061, this Court approved the Board's deferral of the base-term calculation until an inmate was found suitable for parole. The Court explained that the overriding goal of the parole statute was public safety and that nothing in the statute or in the constitutional prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment required the Board to set an inmate's release date before he was found suitable for release. (*Id.* at pp. 1082-1084, 1096-1098.)

#### II. THE BOARD AGREES TO ADVANCE THE TIMING OF ITS BASE-TERM CALCULATIONS.

In December 2012, petitioner Roy Butler, who was serving a sentence of 15-years-to-life for second-degree murder, filed an original petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the First District Court of Appeal. Butler's petition alleged that the Board's decision to deny him parole lacked evidentiary support and that the Board's practice of postponing base-term calculations until an inmate was found suitable for parole was inconsistent with due

process and the federal and state constitutional prohibitions against cruel and unusual punishment.

The Court of Appeal bifurcated Butler's claims into two cases: one to address Butler's challenge to the Board's suitability determination (No. A137273) and the second to address his challenge to the timing of the Board's base-term calculations (No. A139411). In the latter case, at the Court of Appeal's suggestion, the parties participated in three settlement conferences before Justice Jim Humes. Although Butler's claims were foreclosed as a legal matter by this Court's decision in *Dannenberg*, the Board ultimately concluded there were sound public policy reasons to set base terms at the time of an initial suitability hearing, including that an inmate's rehabilitation might be fostered if he knew the earliest date on which he could be released if found suitable for parole.

The parties reached a settlement, the terms of which were embodied in a December 2013 injunctive order. That order required the Board to (1) announce and implement a policy of calculating base and adjusted base terms for life inmates at their initial parole consideration hearings or, for those inmates who already had their initial hearings, at the inmate's next scheduled parole hearing (Stipulation & Order Regarding Settlement, No. A139411 (Dec. 16, 2013) at pp. 5-6 ( $\P$  3-4)); and (2) promulgate new regulations codifying the new timing of base-term calculations (*id.* at p. 6 ( $\P$  5-7)). The order did not address or express any agreement between the parties on the merits of Butler's claim that the Board's term-setting practices were unconstitutional. The Court of Appeal retained jurisdiction over the case until the amended regulations required under the order became effective. (*Id.* at p. 7 ( $\P$  8).)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In case number A137273, the Court of Appeal granted Butler's habeas petition and remanded for further proceedings. (*In re Butler*, (continued...)

### III. THE LEGISLATURE OVERHAULS THE STATE'S PAROLE SYSTEM.

Starting in 2014, the legal structure of the State's parole system shifted in three fundamental ways. First, the Legislature enacted Senate Bills 260 and 261 to reform the parole process for youthful offenders, those who were under age 23 when they committed their offenses. (See Stats. 2013, ch. 312 (SB 260) [offenders under age 18]; Stats. 2015, ch. 471 (SB 261) [extending reforms to offenders who were under age 23].) Under SB 260 and SB 261, youth offenders are entitled to parole consideration after 15, 20, or 25 years of incarceration depending on their commitment offense. (Pen. Code, § 3051, subd. (b).) If the youth offender is found suitable at his parole hearing, he "shall be paroled regardless of the manner in which the board set release dates pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 3041...." (Id., § 3046, subd. (c); see generally People v. Franklin (2016) 63 Cal.4th 261, 276-278 [describing SB 260 and SB 261].) Thus, under these new laws, youth offenders must be immediately released once they are found suitable for parole—without regard to the minimum term that the Board's base-term regulations would otherwise have prescribed.

Second, the Board restructured the parole process for certain elderly offenders in compliance with a three-judge federal court order mandating reductions in the State's prison population. (See *Plata v. Brown*, Case No. 01-1351 (N.D.Cal.), Dkt. No. 2766 (Feb. 10, 2014).) Under the court-ordered program, inmates who are at least 60 years old and have served 25

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

No. A137273 (Mar. 5, 2014).) This Court depublished the Court of Appeal's opinion. (*In re Butler*, No. S217457.) On remand, the Board granted Butler parole, the Governor took no action, and in June 2014, Butler was released from prison onto parole. Although Butler is no longer incarcerated, the case is not moot because the Board remains bound under the stipulated order notwithstanding Butler's release.

continuous years of custody are entitled to parole consideration and immediate release if they are found suitable, irrespective of the minimum base term they would otherwise have been required to serve. (*Id.* at p. 3 ( $\P$  4(e); see also *id.* at p. 5 ( $\P$  9) [generally waiving state statutes and regulations that "impede the implementation" of the court's order].)

Third, in 2015, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 230, which reformed the parole process for all indeterminate life-term inmates. The new law left in place the Board's responsibility under Penal Code section 3041, subdivision (b) to determine whether an inmate was suitable for parole based on his dangerousness, but repealed the requirement in section 3041, subdivision (a) that the Board set uniform release dates according to established criteria. (Stats. 2015, ch. 470, § 1.) In place of these Board-set release dates, the Legislature added new section 3041, subdivision (a)(4), which provides: "Upon a grant of parole, the inmate shall be released subject to all applicable review periods. However, an inmate shall not be released before reaching his or her minimum eligible parole date as set pursuant to Section 3046 unless the inmate is eligible for earlier release pursuant to his or her youth offender parole eligibility date." (Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a)(4).) Thus, under SB 230, all life inmates are entitled to release once they have reached a minimum eligible parole date prescribed by statute and are found suitable for parole. (*Ibid.*; see also id., § 3046, subd. (a) [minimum sentence for offender convicted of life term is seven years or term set by statute]; id., § 190, subds. (a), (b), (d) [minimum] term for first-degree murder is 25 years; minimum terms for various second-degree murder offenses are 15, 20, or 25 years].)<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Minimum eligible parole dates may vary by inmate through the calculation of credits that can shorten a prisoner's minimum term. One year before an inmate's minimum eligible parole date, the Board conducts (continued...)

In eliminating the Board's authority to set release dates, the Legislature identified what it perceived as significant problems with the existing base-term process. According to the Legislature's two Public Safety Committees, the process for calculating base terms was "confusing," "convoluted," "complex," and "inconsistent." (Sen. Com. on Pub. Safety, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 230 (2015-2016 Reg. Sess.), Hearing Date Apr. 28, 2015, p. 3 [author's statement]; Assem. Com. on Pub. Safety. Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 230 (2015-2016 Reg. Sess.) as amended Mar. 24, 2015, p. 3.) In the Legislature's view, the base-term regulations "creat[ed] a system of back-end sentencing in which a judge's sentence may bear little resemblance to the actual time an individual serves under correctional control." (Assem. Pub. Safety Com. Rep., supra, at p. 3 [length of base term "not at all apparent from the sentences issued by trial judges"].) In addition, because base terms set an inmate's minimum sentence and could be increased by a variety of enhancements, the base-term regulations led the Board to keep inmates incarcerated, even after finding them suitable for parole, "at great expense and no added safety to the public." (Assem. Pub. Safety Com. Rep., supra, at p. 3; see also Sen. Pub. Safety Com. Rep., supra, at pp. 3-4 [criticizing enhancements used to increase base terms].) At the same time, by keeping inmates in custody after a suitability finding,

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

an initial parole consideration hearing. (Pen. Code, § 3041, subd. (a)(2).) The minimum eligible parole date is "the earliest date on which ... [a] life prisoner may legally be released on parole." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, §§ 2000, 3000, subd. (b)(67).) It is based on the sentence imposed by the trial court, the credit eligibility associated with the particular life offense, and the inmate's behavior in prison. (See *People v. Buckhalter* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 20, 30-32 [describing credits scheme].) Many indeterminate life crimes are statutorily ineligible to receive prison credits. (*Id.* at pp. 32, 34.) For these offenses, the minimum eligible parole date is the minimum term prescribed by law less any presentence credits awarded by the trial court.

the system did "not encourage rehabilitative behavior by inmates." (Sen. Pub. Safety Com., *supra*, at p. 4.) In light of these findings, the Legislature repealed the Board's authority to set release dates and provided instead that "if an inmate is found suitable he or she shall be released, after the Governor's statutory right of review." (Assem. Pub. Safety Com. Rep., *supra*, at p. 3.) The new law would result in "truth in sentencing" (*ibid*.) and "'create[] steps to minimize bureaucratic delay, remove duplication, and eliminate unfair procedures" (*ibid*. [author's statement]).

### IV. THE COURT OF APPEAL DENIES THE BOARD'S MOTION TO MODIFY THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

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