In the

Supreme Court

of the

State of California

IN RE ROY BUTLER ON HABEAS CORPUS

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 2 1 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b)

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. A139411 SUPERIOR COURT OF ALAMEDA · HONORABLE LARRY GOODMAN · NO. 91694B

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KEKER, VAN NEST & PETERS LLP SHARIF JACOB, ESQ. (257546)
STEVEN A. HIRSCH, ESQ. (171825)
ANDREA NILL SANCHEZ, ESQ. (308477)
633 Battery Street
San Francisco, California 94111-1809
(415) 391-5400 Telephone
(415) 397-7188 Facsimile
sjacob@keker.com
shirsch@keker.com
anillsanchez@keker.com

Attorneys for Roy Butler

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

The calculation of base terms not only advances proportionality in accordance with the stated purpose of the DSL, it is also compatible with the plain meaning of the most recent legislative reforms. As to the youth offender bills, their stated purpose is to "create a process by which growth and maturity of youthful offenders can be assessed and a meaningful

opportunity for release established." Youth Offender Parole Hearings, 2013 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 312 (S.B. 260). S.B. 260 now requires the Board to release youth offenders found suitable for parole, whether or not they have served their MEPDs or base terms. See Cal. Penal Code § 3046(c)). Similarly, S.B. 230 amended the law to instruct the Board to release inmates upon a grant of parole. See id. § 3041(a)(4). On their face, the statutes are solely concerned with what happens after an inmate is found suitable for parole. They are silent as to the term-fixing responsibilities and proportionality considerations that must take place prior to any suitability determination.

The legislative history confirms the unambiguous wording of the statutes. At no point did a single lawmaker indicate an intent to eliminate base terms as a measure for proportionality. Instead, in passing S.B. 260, the Legislature was seeking to address the potential flood of habeas petitions on cruel and unusual punishment grounds by "inmates serving extended prison terms who were convicted as minors" in the wake of recent case law. Mot. to Modify Opp., Jacob Decl. Ex. A at 0042. The Legislature sought to craft a "viable mechanism" for reviewing such cases, amending the law to account for the fact that a youth offender who has spent a "substantial period of incarceration and can show maturity and

improvement."²³ *Id.* at 0047. Nonetheless, the legislative history of S.B. 261 expressly acknowledged that it is not intended as any guarantee of parole. ²⁴ And while nothing in the legislative history for the youth offender bills implicates the Settlement Order, base terms calculations can play a critical role in facilitating judicial review of habeas claims not addressed by S.B. 260 or 261. *See Rodriguez*, 14 Cal. 3d at 654 n.18 ("Prompt termfixing will not only relieve the courts of the burden of reviewing repeated complaints by prisoners whose terms have not been fixed, but will also make possible the type of meaningful review of [Board] actions to which prisoners are entitled.").

The Board argues without support that, in enacting S.B. 230, "the Legislature was aware of the settlement in this case when it decided to dismantle the base-term system." Opening Br. at 18. However, nowhere in the legislative history of S.B. 230 does a representative decry base terms as a useful measure of proportionality for inmates who have repeatedly been

See Mot. to Modify Opp., Jacob Decl. Ex. B at 0052 (emphasis added).

²³ The Legislature later passed S.B. 261 to expand the youth offender parole process. *See* Mot. to Modify Opp., Jacob Decl. Ex. B.

²⁴ The legislative history of S.B. 261 states:

To be clear: SB 261 is by no means a "free ticket" for release. There is no mandate to a reduced sentence or release on parole . . . there is no guarantee for a grant of parole. The Board still has to examine each inmate's suitability for parole, the criteria for which this bill does not change.

denied parole. The Legislature did demonstrate an awareness that the Board was improperly using base terms to justify holding inmates for a longer period of time that is necessary. Its reference to base terms was limited to a critique of how "term calculations can extend or alter an individual's sentence, creating a system of back-end sentencing in which a judge's sentence may bear little resemblance to the actual time an individual serves under correctional control." *See* Mot. to Modify Opp., Jacob Decl. Ex. C at 0055.

The Settlement Order, however, does not support this practice. Quite the contrary, it was intended to discourage (if not prohibit) the continued imprisonment of inmates past their base term. Its implementation is entirely consistent with the stated purpose of S.B. 230, which is to "ensure[] that once the Board of Parole Hearings determines that an inmate is eligible, suitable, and safe for parole, the implementation of that decision is expedited." *Id.* at 0054.

The policy consequences of the Board's interpretation of the legislative reforms as conflicting with its term-setting responsibilities are severe. The Settlement Order furthers the overarching legislative goal of curbing the prolonged incarceration of individuals who have served their time and pose no danger to society. Without it, the Board will stop fixing terms altogether and inmates who are denied parole will continue to languish in prison with no sense of whether or when their continued

incarceration is constitutionally excessive. Moreover, the courts—in reviewing habeas petitions—will be deprived of the Board's own calculation of the proportionate sentence for the crimes.

In sum, the legislative reforms the Board points to all relate to the Board's parole-granting authority. The Settlement Order does not require the Board to continue to incarcerate inmates who are suitable for parole because they have not reached their base terms; it simply requires the Board to *calculate* base terms. By conflating its statutory parole-granting powers with its constitutional duty to consider proportionality, the Board repeats the same error of its predecessor in *Rodriguez*: It "has not distinguished its responsibility to fix the primary term of prisoners . . . from its parolegranting function." 14 Cal. 3d at 653.

C. The disentitlement doctrine bars the Board from seeking to modify a court order after it has chosen to disobey it.

Long before it moved to modify the Settlement Order, the Board knowingly and voluntarily began to disobey the provisions it now seeks to excise. Pursuant to the disentitlement doctrine, a party "cannot, with right or reason, ask the aid or assistance of this [C]ourt in hearing [its] demands while [it] stands in an attitude of contempt to the legal orders and processes of the courts of this state which [it] seeks to avoid through the intervention of an appeal to this tribunal." *Knoob v. Knoob*, 192 Cal. 95, 97 (1923); accord MacPherson v. MacPherson, 13 Cal. 2d 271, 277 (1939).

This Court has the inherent power to dismiss an appeal by a party that refuses to comply with a lower court order. See id.; see also Gwartz v. Weilert, 231 Cal. App. 4th 750, 757 (2014), reh'g denied (Nov. 18, 2014), review denied (Feb. 18, 2015)(citing Stoltenberg v. Ampton Investments, 215 Cal. App. 4th 1225, 1229 (2013), as modified (May 6, 2013), as modified on denial of reh'g (June 5, 2013)). Courts have applied the doctrine in a wide array of cases, including matters where a judgment debtor frustrated efforts to enforce the judgment, parties willfully refused to respond to postjudgment interrogatories, and where an appellant disobeyed a prejudgment order requiring the deposit of partnership funds into a trustee account. See Gwartz, 231 Cal. App. 4th at 758 (listing cases). Dismissal of an appeal is justified so long as the appellant has "willfully disobeyed the lower court's orders or engaged in obstructive tactics"—a formal judgment of contempt is not necessary. *Id.* at 757-758 (citing *Stoltenberg*, 215 Cal. App. 4th at 1230).

The Board's contempt of the Settlement Order is well documented. After a lengthy investigation, Mr. Butler discovered over 1,600 violations of the Settlement Order. Nill Sanchez Contempt Decl. ¶¶ 21-26. And the violations stand undisputed. Indeed, the Board has admitted that it did not calculate base terms for youthful offenders and elderly inmates. See id. ¶ 29(iii). Of the 1,641 parole hearings where the Board did not conduct a base term calculation, 676 qualified as youth offender hearings and 466 as

elderly parole hearings, respectively. *Id.* ¶ 25. Mr. Butler's investigation discovered that the Board failed to calculate a base term in approximately 500 regular hearings as well, approximately thirty percent of its documented violations. *Id.* ¶ 26.

The Board knowingly and voluntarily chose to disobey the

Settlement Order's requirements without first seeking permission or even providing notice to the parties or the Court. Its violations were largely the product of a formal, deliberate policy that directly conflicts with the requirements of the Settlement Order. *Id.* ¶¶ 27-29. As far back as May 2014, the Board distributed proposed regulations at an executive board meeting affirmatively directing hearing panels *not* to select a base term or calculate an adjusted base term for youth offenders. Id. ¶ 29(i). Furthermore, its rulemaking efforts implementing the Settlement Order stalled in August 2014. Id. ¶ 36. It is unclear when or whether the Board would have even moved to modify the Settlement Order had Mr. Butler not learned of its violations and sent it a letter threatening to seek that the Board be held in contempt. See Id. ¶¶ 30-31; see also Tr. of Oral Argument at 45 (1:00:57-1:01:19; 1:02:20-1:02:34) May 31, 2016 (Kline, P.J.: "I must tell you, personally, []I'm kind of offended at[] what's happened here. What[] I'm hearing from Mr. Jacob—and maybe this is wrong—is you just ignored the settlement. And belatedly moved to modify it after you realized there was going to be a contempt proceeding. . . Mr. Kinney: Mr. Jacob is

correct that with regard to youth offenders and inmates under the elderly parole program, [] through the three-judge panel, the board is not [] setting—or calculating base terms for those individuals.").

This appeal is an open attempt by the Board to remove from the Settlement Order the provisions it violated. Not only could the Board have anticipated some of the legislative reforms that took place, SB 260 passed the Legislature before the Settlement Order was even entered. Youth Offender Parole Hearings, 2013 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 312 (S.B. 260) (codified at Cal. Penal Code, § 3051). The disentitlement doctrine was developed to prevent precisely that sort of abuse of the Court's process. See Stoltenberg, 215 Cal. App. 4th at 1230. see also Signal Oil & Gas Co. v. Ashland Oil & Refining Co., 49 Cal. 2d 764, 776 n.6 (1958) ("It is for the court of first instance to determine the question of the validity of the law, and until its decision is reversed for error by orderly review, either by itself or by a higher court, its orders based on its decision are to be respected, and disobedience of them is contempt of its lawful authority, to be punished.") (quoting *Howat v. Kansas*, 258 U.S. 181, 189-190 (1922)). Rather than modify the Board's obligations to conform to its contempt, the Court should continue enforcing the Settlement Order and hold the Board responsible for its failure to comply with its requirements.

D. The Board is barred from relitigating the merits of the Settlement Order under the law of the case doctrine.

A motion to modify a consent decree is not an opportunity to relitigate the constitutional claims that underlie the decree. *See supra* Part V.A. But even if it were, the Board's challenge is now barred by law of the case. The Board's request for modification revolves entirely around its premise that "the Board's obligations under the stipulated order are not grounded in the Constitution." *See* Opening Br. at 21. However, that issue has been squarely decided by the lower court in proceedings that the Board left unchallenged on two separate occasions. The Board is barred from using a motion to modify as a vehicle for revisiting the Court of Appeal's prior decisions.

Under the law of the case doctrine, "the decision of an appellate court, stating a rule of law necessary to the decision of the case, conclusively establishes that rule and makes it determinative of the rights of the same parties in any subsequent retrial or appeal in the same case." Sargon Enterprises, Inc. v. Univ. of S. California, 215 Cal. App. 4th 1495, 1505 (2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); see also Cal. Prac. Guide Civ. App. & Writs Ch. 14-D ¶ 14:172. The law of the case doctrine binds the Supreme Court to the legal findings of a previous appeal before the Court of Appeal in the same case, even where the Supreme Court

may conclude that the Court of Appeal opinion was erroneous. *See People* v. *Stanley*, 10 Cal. 4th 764, 786 (1995).

The Board expressly opposed the first opportunity to review the merits of the Settlement Order. In requesting transfer to the Supreme Court of the Settlement Order, Sacramento County District Attorney Jan Scully made the same statutory arguments the Board presents today. See Ltr. from Jan Scully, District Att'y to Cal. Supreme Ct., April 23, 2014 ("This [settlement] order conflicts with the legislative direction contained in Penal Code section 3041, subdivision (b)[.]"). However, the Board opposed her request, arguing that "the Court of Appeal has held that comparable orders granting motions to enforce settlement . . . are final orders because they 'dispose[] of the litigation' and leave the court with 'nothing . . . to do other than enforce its order." See Resp't's Answer to Request for Transfer May 15, 2014 at 3 (quoting *Critzer v. Enos*, 187 Cal. App. 4th 1242, 1252 (2010)). Notably, by that time, S.B. 260 was already in effect and the Coleman Order had been issued. See Rufo, 502 U.S. at 385 (1992) ("If it is clear that a party anticipated changing conditions that would make performance of the decree more onerous but nevertheless agreed to the decree, that party would have to satisfy a heavy burden to convince a court that it agreed to the decree in good faith, made a reasonable effort to comply with the decree, and should be relieved of the undertaking . . . ").

The Board also chose not to seek review of the Court of Appeal's opinion awarding Mr. Butler attorneys' fees. In deciding the motion, the court had to determine whether the Settlement Order resulted in the "enforcement of an important right affecting the public interest[.]" Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5. In opposition to Mr. Butler's motion for attorneys' fees, the Board argued that a right to a base term calculation at the initial parole suitability hearing "did not exist until the settlement went into effect." Resp't's Opp. to Mot. to Att'y Fees, November 5, 2014 at 4. The Court of Appeal squarely rejected the Board's position, determining that the Settlement Order vindicated the constitutional rights the Board once again claims it does not. See In re Butler, 236 Cal. App. 4th at 1230, 1233-1235 (explaining that the Board's arguments "ignore[] the role the base and adjusted base terms play in promoting proportionality, which is both constitutionally mandated and an express goal of the DSL"); see also Press v. Lucky Stores, Inc., 34 Cal. 3d 311, 318 (1983) (holding that litigation that vindicates rights "of constitutional stature" satisfy the public interest element of Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5) (quoting Serrano v. Priest, 20 Cal. 3d 25, 46 n.18 (1977)). The Board, however, never sought reconsideration, Supreme Court review, or even depublication of the Court of Appeal's opinion.²⁵

²⁵ On October 28, 2015, the Supreme Court declined a third-party request to review or depublish the decision. *See* Cal. Supreme Ct. Order,

The merits of the Settlement Order—having already been decided in a prior appeal—are not subject to review in this case. Following two foregone opportunities to seek review, the Settlement Order's constitutional significance has become the law of the case. The Board cannot use a motion to modify to sidestep established issues in this case that it failed to appeal at the proper time.

E. The Settlement Order vindicates the California Constitution's prohibition on cruel or unusual punishment.

Even if the Board could relitigate the underlying merits of Mr. Butler's constitutional claims after settling them, Mr. Butler should prevail. Article 1, section 17, of the California Constitution *mandates* the Board imprison every parole-eligible life inmate for no longer than the term proportional to his or her crime. *See Rodriguez*, 14 Cal. 3d at 650. The Board cannot escape its constitutional obligation to fix a term proportionate to an inmate's offense.

That obligation extends as far back as the final years of the DSL, when this Court affirmed that the Board must fix terms so that no life prisoner in its custody serves a constitutionally excessive period of time. Starting with *Wingo*, 14 Cal. 3d at 182, the Supreme Court stated that inmates have a "vested right" in ensuring their terms are fixed proportionately to their offense. It therefore held that "judicial review must

No. S227750, Oct. 28, 2015.

await an initial determination by the [Board] of the proper term in the individual case." *Id.* at 183. One month later, in *Rodriguez*, this Court detailed the Board's term-fixing responsibility.

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